IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2006-CA-00289

SPOTLITE SKATING RINK, INC.

Appellant

vs.

BIANCA ZWYACA BARNES BY AND THROUGH MOTHER AND NEXT FRIEND, VEARLY BARNES, ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND AS ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF BIANCA ZWYACA BARNES

Appellee

Appeal of the Jury Verdict and Judgment and Order on Post-Trial Motions of the Washington County Circuit Court, Honorable Richard A. Smith, Circuit Judge in Barnes v. Spotlite Skating Rink, Inc. *et. al*, Cause No. CI2002-128

BRIEF OF APPELLANT SPOTLITE SKATING RINK, INC.

LeAnn W. Nealey, MB.
Paul M. Ellis, MB # Annual Content of the second
BUTLER, SNOW, O'MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC
P. O. Box 22567

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Under Mississippi law, a plaintiff may only recover damages if her injury is the type that is a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the defendant's alleged negligence. Plaintiff's daughter, Bianca Barnes, fell and hit her head on the skate floor at Defendant Spotlite's skating rink. The fall dislodged a rare tumor in Bianca's head which clogged a ventricle resulting in the build-up of intracranial pressure that eventually caused her death. Plaintiff sued Spotlite for negligent supervision and care. Is Bianca's injury the type that is a reasonably foreseeable consequence of Spotlite's alleged negligence?
- II. Under Mississippi law, skating rink personnel are required to assist a skater, or to remove her from the skate floor, when they know or should know that a skater is totally unable to skate and that the skater is exposed to a likelihood of some serious injury due to such inability. While Spotlite's skateguard was watching Bianca learn to skate, Bianca fell one time. Appellant picked her up and immediately took her off the skate floor. Based on this legal standard and the circumstances detailed below, was Spotlite negligent in its supervision of Bianca?
- **III.** Under Mississippi law, a business must use reasonable care to see that one injured on its premises receives proper care; but it is only required to provide such care as is reasonable in light of what it can anticipate. Based on this legal standard and the circumstances set forth below, was Spotlite's care of Bianca reasonable in light of what it could anticipate?
- **IV.** Under Mississippi law regarding proximate cause, an actor need not anticipate that "which would include an unusual, improbable, or extraordinary occurrence, although such happening is within the range of possibilities." Under the circumstances here, was any action or inaction on Spotlite's part the proximate cause of Bianca's death?
- V. Plaintiff's economist was allowed to give expert testimony relating to Bianca's lost wages, lost entitlements and lost fringe benefits, but he did not consider the requisite "facts and data" necessary to allow his opinion to be presented to the jury. Was it reversible error under *Daubert* and Rule 702 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence to allow this expert testimony to be presented to the jury?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings and its Disposition Below.

The deceased, Bianca Barnes ("Bianca"), was a 10 year old girl with an undiagnosed, very rare medical condition - - a congenital colloid cyst in her brain. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 378:11-23; 545:10-25; 558:17-20; 663:11-15; 758:12-15.¹ On December 25, 2000, while roller skating at Spotlite Skating Rink, Inc. ("Spotlite") (Appellant herein), Bianca fell one time. Tr. 1072:2-4. She told the Spotlite skateguard "she was alright" (Tr. 1075:16; *see also* 1064:12-15) and was seen back out on the rink. Tr. 1058:18-20; 1061:21-29. She arrived home from Spotlite around midnight (Tr. 1096:14-17) and her mother testified that when she picked her up that evening, Bianca was walking normally and had no apparent injury (Tr. 813:12-17) and Bianca did not mention that she had fallen at Spotlite. Tr. 814:23-26. She simply went to bed. Tr. 814:16-21.

Bianca awoke around 4:00 am on December 26, 2000, vomiting green fluid. Tr. 789:3-11. Her mother ultimately called a nurse practitioner that afternoon, an ambulance was sent to their home and Bianca was taken to North Sunflower County Hospital. R. 6-14. Bianca was then transferred to Delta Regional Medical Facility (R. 9), and then to University Medical Center in Jackson, Mississippi. R. 12. She was pronounced dead early on December 27, 2000. R. 13. The medical testimony showed Bianca's death was caused by an undiagnosed colloid cyst blocking the flow of spinal fluid from her brain, resulting in hydrocephalus (backup of fluid on the brain), causing intracranial pressure and ultimately, herniation of her brain stem and death. *See e.g.*, Tr. 545-48.

Bianca's mother (on behalf of Bianca's estate and the wrongful death beneficiaries) sued the hospitals involved for malpractice. R. 6-14. In a separate lawsuit, plaintiff sued several

¹ All cited pages from the trial transcript are included in the Appellant's Record Excerpts, Tab 5 (R.E. 32–142)

physicians, individually, for malpractice, as well as raising a wrongful death negligence claim against Spotlite. R. 221-29.² These two lawsuits were subsequently consolidated and tried together.

Prior to trial defendants moved to exclude the testimony of plaintiff's economist, Dr. George Carter, as inadmissible under *Daubert* and Miss. R. Evid. 702. R. 458-639. During trial the court addressed the admissibility of Dr. Carter's opinions. The trial court excluded some opinions, but over defendants' (including Spotlite's) continuing objection (Tr. 917:23-26), the trial court allowed Dr. Carter to testify regarding Bianca's lost wages, lost entitlements and lost fringe benefits. Tr. 898:20-29; 912:13-19; 916:16-28. *See generally*, Tr. 898-917.

ŗ

.

1

1.

i .

At the close of plaintiff's evidence, Spotlite moved for a directed verdict because (1) Bianca's injuries were unforeseeable, thus plaintiff could not recover damages as a matter of law; (2) plaintiff failed to show any breach of duty owed Bianca; and (3) plaintiff failed to show any alleged negligence by Spotlite was the proximate cause of Bianca's death. Tr. 969-72. Spotlite's motion was denied. Tr. 994:2-5. The case proceeded against Spotlite³ and, by the requisite unanimous verdict, the jury awarded \$600,000 to plaintiff (R. 899-900; R.E. 5-6) for "loss of companionship, pain and suffering and present net cash value of the life of Bianca Barnes." *Id.* Spotlite timely filed its Motion To Set Aside The Jury Verdict And Enter Verdict For Defendant Or In The Alternative, For A New Trial, Or In The Further Alternative For A Remittitur. R. 901-11; R. 931-35 (reply). The trial court denied Spotlite's motion on January 5, 2006 (R.E. 26-29)

 $^{^2}$ Plaintiff's claims against Spotlite were based on its alleged negligent supervision at the rink and negligent care of Bianca after she fell.

³ Plaintiff's malpractice claims against the hospitals and doctors were dismissed on directed verdict after the close of plaintiff's evidence. Tr. 993:9-29, 994:1.

 $(Tab 4)^4$ and Spotlite timely appealed. R. 968-69.

B. Statement of the Facts Relevant for the Issues on Review.

As noted above, Bianca had an undiagnosed, very rare medical condition - - a congenital colloid cyst in her brain. Tr. 378:11-23; 545:10-25; 558:17-20; 663:11-15; 758:12-15. On Christmas Day, December 25, 2000, her uncle gave her permission to go roller skating with her cousins at Spotlite (Tr. 809:22-26), and she took a bus from her home in Ruleville, Mississippi to Greenwood (approximately an hour away), where Spotlite is located. Tr. 217:10-23, 218:14-15, 234:29, 235:1-6. The children arrived at Spotlite and headed to the rink to skate. Though Bianca's mother testified at trial that Bianca was a "very, very good skater" (Tr. 786:10-11), one of the Spotlite skateguards on duty, Marvin Miller ("Miller") testified that he was told that Bianca did not know how to skate. Tr. 1071:14-20, 28. That being the case, Miller helped Bianca onto the rink floor, and explained that once she was out there she was "persistent in [that] she wanted to do it by herself." Tr. 1071:27-29, 1072:1.

Miller watched Bianca skate, and saw her fall when she got about ten or eleven feet from the partition wall. Tr. 1072:2-4. There is no evidence in the record that Bianca was bumped, stumbled on anything, or was tripped. Miller immediately went to Bianca and picked her up. Tr. 1072:6-8. Bianca was crying and said that she had hit her head. Tr. 1072:13-14. He took her to the sitting area and examined her head. Tr. 1072:16-17. Miller did not see any bumps, or cuts or bleeding. Tr. 1072:23-27. He got a towel from his locker, put some ice in it, and put it on Bianca's head. Tr. 1073:2-12. He then tried to call Bianca's mom several times at home, but could not reach her. Tr. 1073:17-19, 23-26. Bianca told him that she was "alright." Tr. 1075:16.

⁴ A review of the record showed Appellant's Certification of Examination and Supplementation of Record for Appeal (with exhibits) (sent for filing March 15, 2007) had been omitted from the record, as well as the trial court's January 5, 2006 Order. The January 5, 2006 Order was entered and these items were added by the parties' stipulation filed July 10, 2007. R.E. 7-31. The parties' Stipulation was granted per the Notice entered July 12, 2007.

The attendant at the concession stand, Ms. Freddie White-Johnson ("Ms. Freddie"), also came by to check on Bianca. Tr. 1057:7-12. She gave her a wet paper towel and told her to wipe her face and clean her nose. Tr. 1058:4-6. Ms. Freddie asked Bianca if she was feeling any pain, but Bianca just said that she was hot. Tr. 1060:28-29, 1061:1-3. She brought Bianca a bag of ice to rub on her forehead and around her neck. Tr. 1058:7-10. Bianca told her that she was "okay." Tr. 1064:12-15. Ms. Freddie said "if you need me, call me, and I'll come back." Tr. 1058:17-18. When she went to check on Bianca twenty or thirty minutes later, she had gone back to the floor.⁵ Tr. 1058:18-20, 1061:21-29.⁶

When Bianca left Spotlite and got back on the bus to Ruleville she looked "normal" to the driver. Tr. 1096:9-11. She did not cry or complain about any physical problems on the bus ride home. Tr. 209:13-14. The van arrived in Ruleville around midnight and the driver dropped Bianca and her cousins off at the cousins' house. Tr. 1096:14-17, 223:26-27, 224:2-8, 24-25.

When Bianca's mother picked her up that evening, she said that Bianca was walking normally and had no apparent injury. Tr. 813:12-17. Bianca did not mention that she had fallen at Spotlite. Tr. 814:23-26. When she got home, Bianca did not complain about any physical problems; instead, she told her uncle how excited she was about having gone on the skating trip. Tr. 252:11-17. Bianca went to bed. Tr. 814:16-21.

Around four o'clock in the morning, Bianca started throwing up "greenish-bluish looking stuff." Tr. 789:3-11. Her mom gave her some Benadryl and sent Bianca back to bed. Tr. 790:16-18. When Bianca woke up, she "staggered from her room to the living room and just lay on the couch." Tr. 790:21-25. Her mother called a nurse practitioner at approximate 12:30 pm (R. 7)

. .

⁵ The skate session at Spotlite changes to a dance session later in the evening. Tr. 1061.

⁶ See also Tr. 1075:4-17 (Miller saw her on the skate floor during the dance session).

and an ambulance arrived at approximately 2:30 pm that afternoon. *Id.* Bianca was taken to North Sunflower County Hospital (R. 6-14); then transferred to Delta Regional Medical Facility (R. 9), then to University Medical Center in Jackson, Mississippi. R. 12. She was pronounced dead early on December 27, 2000. R. 13. The medical testimony showed Bianca's death was caused by an undiagnosed colloid cyst blocking the flow of spinal fluid from her brain, resulting in hydrocephalus (backup of fluid on the brain), causing intracranial pressure and ultimately, herniation of her brain stem and death. Tr. 545-48; Tr. 771:19-27, 663:11.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury in this case awarded damages in the amount of \$600,000 against Spotlite based on Bianca's death due to her colloid cyst. The verdict and judgment cannot stand, however, because all evidence in this case shows Bianca's death from the colloid cyst was not a foreseeable consequence of her fall. Accordingly, the damages assessed against Spotlite for her death (all damages in this case) are not recoverable as a matter of law. *City of Jackson v. Estate of Stewart ex rel. Womack*, 908 So. 2d 703, 715 (Miss. 2005). On this basis alone, the jury verdict and judgment of the trial court should be reversed and judgment rendered that plaintiff take nothing and her claims against Spotlite be dismissed with prejudice.

, .

On a more fundamental level, plaintiff cannot recover for her alleged negligent supervision and care claims against Spotlite because Spotlite breached no duty owed to Bianca in this case. When analyzed under the applicable legal standard, the record contains no evidence supporting a finding that Spotlite failed to meet its duty of supervision in this case; nor does it contain any evidence that Spotlite failed to meet its duty of providing appropriate medical attention.

In any event, even if plaintiff could show Spotlite breached any duty owed Bianca, there is no evidence that any action or inaction on Spotlite's part was the requisite proximate cause of

Bianca's death. Under long-standing Mississippi law, an "actor is not bound to a prevision or anticipation which would include an unusual, improbable, or extraordinary occurrence, although such happening is within the range of possibilities." *Mauney v. Gulf Refining Co.*, 9 So. 2d 780, 781 (Miss. 1942) (citation omitted). The rationale behind this rule is that it would "impose too heavy a responsibility for negligence to hold the tortfeasor accountable for what was unusual and unlikely to happen, or for what was only remotely and slightly probable." *Id.* That Bianca fell one time and subsequently died when her undiagnosed colloid cyst dislodged is surely an unusual, improbable, or extraordinary occurrence. Holding Spotlite liable for her death here would "impose too heavy a responsibility for negligence" - an impermissible result under Mississippi law. In short, the proximate cause of Bianca's death was an undiagnosed, pre-existing medical condition—not any action or inaction by Spotlite.

Finally, if this Court should decline to reverse and render judgment in favor of Spotlite, the judgment should be reversed and remanded because it was an abuse of discretion to allow the plaintiff's economist to testify regarding Bianca's lost wages, lost entitlements and lost fringe benefits. Plaintiff's economist failed to consider the requisite "facts and data" necessary to allow his opinion on these matters to be presented to the jury; accordingly, his testimony should have been excluded under *Daubert* and Rule 702 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A. Standard of Review.

The plaintiff bears the burden of proving every element of her negligence claim, and a trial court errs by denying a defendant's motion for directed verdict if the plaintiff has failed to present "substantial evidence fairly tending to establish every element of the plaintiff's causes of action." *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. Ronald Adams Contractor, Inc.*, 753 So. 2d 1077, 1083 (Miss. 2000). The standard of review for the denial of a motion for directed verdict and on a motion

for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is identical. *Id.* Though this Court will consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee (*id.*); if the facts are so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant that reasonable jurors could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, this Court must reverse and render. *Id.*

The standard of review for the admission or suppression of evidence in Mississippi is abuse of discretion. *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003). The trial judge has the sound discretion to admit or refuse expert testimony; an abuse of discretion standard means the judge's decision will stand unless the discretion he used is found to be arbitrary and clearly erroneous. *Id.*

B. The Judgment Should Be Reversed and Judgment Rendered for Spotlite Because Bianca's Death Was Not a Foresceable Consequence of Any Alleged Negligence On Its Part.

Plaintiff sued Spotlite for its alleged negligent supervision of Bianca and care for Bianca after her fall, seeking damages based on testimony that Bianca's fall at the rink was the "precipitating cause" of Bianca's colloid cyst dislodging and causing the obstruction which ultimately resulted in her death. Tr. 770-71; *see also* Tr. 408. The jury awarded damages in the amount of \$600,000 against Spotlite based on Bianca's death due to the colloid cyst. R. 899-900; R.E. 5-6.

i La s

The verdict and judgment cannot stand, however, because all evidence shows Bianca's death was not a foreseeable consequence of her fall. *See* Tr. 378:11-23; 545:10-25; 558:17-20; 663:11-15; 758:12-15. Accordingly, the damages assessed for her death (all damages in this case) are not recoverable in this case as a matter of law. *City of Jackson v. Estate of Stewart ex rel. Womack*, 908 So. 2d 703, 715 (Miss. 2005).

In *Womack*, an elderly day care participant, Mrs. Stewart,⁷ fell when exiting a van the City operated. 908 So. 2d at 707. Within days of her fall, Mrs. Stewart suffered a massive stroke. *Id.* She sued the City (and others) for her injuries, seeking damages for her fall and including compensation for her stroke. *Id.* at 713. The City appealed the ensuing damage award against it, raising as one issue: "Whether a stroke is a type of damage which is a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the [defendant's] alleged negligence." *Id.* at 708.

This Court held Mrs. Stewart's estate should not have been awarded damages based on her stroke, beginning by establishing the applicable standard: "the Estate claims that Mrs. Stewart's fall on August 11, 1997, resulted in a stroke. . . . In order to recover damages related to the stroke, however, the Estate must show more than negligent conduct which resulted in damages." *Id.* at 712. Specifically, the plaintiff "must show not only that the stroke resulted from the fall and that the fall resulted from a defendant's negligence, **but also that a stroke is a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the alleged negligent act**." *Id.* (emphasis added). "[F]oreseeability presents the question of whether a stroke is the type of damage which reasonably should be **anticipated** (or foreseen before the fact) as a result of negligently allowing an elderly person to fall in a parking lot." *Id.* at 713. (Emphasis in original).

Examining the expert medical testimony, the Court found that the only medical testimony on this issue was that it was "extremely uncommon, almost unheard of for a minor fall to cause a stroke" (*id.* at 715), and thus held: "Because the unchallenged expert testimony at trial established that stroke is not a foreseeable consequence of the alleged negligence which led to Mrs. Stewart's fall, we hold that the Estate may not recover damages related to the stroke, whether or not it was caused by the fall." *Id.* (emphasis added).

⁷ Mrs. Stewart was subsequently put in a conservatorship and the case was continued by her conservator.

These very circumstances are present in this case. Even taking as true the testimony that the fall was the "precipitating cause" of the colloid cyst being dislodged (see, e.g., Tr. 770:25-29, 771:1-13), there is no evidence that this event is a "foreseeable consequence" of Bianca's fall. On the contrary, the unchallenged expert testimony shows the cyst was a very rare congenital problem that no one knew Bianca had. Indeed, plaintiff's medical expert, Dr. Brogdon, testified that: "colloid cysts are fairly rare. ... It's an unusual tumor. It's about one percent or less of all the brain tumors that occur" Tr. 394:18-19, 378:11-23. In fact, Dr. Brogdon stated that he had only seen a "handful" of colloid cysts in his 53 years of practice. 395:2, 468:7-12. Given that colloid cysts are extremely uncommon, it logically follows that it is extremely uncommon that a fall would dislodge a colloid cyst and cause the death of a person. See also Tr. 545:28-29 (colloid cysts are not normally caused by trauma but rather "are a congenital problem"); Tr. 550:14-23 (fall had "nothing to do" with development of colloid cyst); Tr. 558:15-20 ("nothing that could have been done or was omitted would have made any difference. Bianca Barnes is an unfortunate child who has a congenital problem that was undiagnosed. We simply cannot reverse that process."); Tr. 663:11-12 ("colloid cyst is a very rare condition"); Tr. 702:14-29, 703:1-14 (fall unrelated to colloid cyst or symptoms (of the cyst blocking the flow of fluid) had already started, causing the fall); Tr. 758:13-15 ("[Bianca] had something that nobody knew she had, which was a colloid cyst of the third ventricle, and nobody knew that.").

1

.

. .

4

i e

1 . J

÷.

1.2

i.

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