IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

SPOTLITE SKATING RINK, INC.

Appellant

v.

BIANCA ZWYACA BARNES BY AND THROUGH HER MOTHER AND NEXT FRIEND, VEARLY BARNES, ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES AND AS ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF BIANCA ZWYACA BARNES

Appellees

Case No. 2006-CA-00289

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi

Brief for Appellee

OF COUNSEL:
GEORGE F. HOLLOWELL, JR.
Mississippi Bar No. 2559
246 South Hinds Street
Post Office Box 1407
Greenville, Mississippi 38702-1407
(662) 378-3103
(662) 378-3420(fax)
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI SPOTLITE SKATING RINK, INC., Appellant

v.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When the evidence is viewed in the light required following a unanimous jury verdict, and it is recognized that the jury is free to reject evidence which does not support the verdict, it is clear that there was sufficient evidence to support the jury verdict in this case. While there was evidence that could have supported a different verdict, the evidence was not such that no reasonable juror could have arrived at the verdict rendered in this case, especially if it is remembered that the jury was not required to believe the evidence which Spotlite relies upon. It was not unreasonable for the jury to believe the expert Spotlite chose in the first place, who after researching the issue in the published literature, testified to a well reasoned chain of causation to a reasonable degree of medical probability that supported the verdict.

Likewise, there was no error in the trial court admitting Dr. Carter's testimony on the net present value of the economic aspects of Bianca's life. He used assumptions based on legal presumptions approved by our courts. Moreover, Spotlite's attacks on his testimony were attacks on his assumptions, not his methodology, providing grounds for vigorous cross examination, but not exclusion of his testimony under *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals*, *Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993) and *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So. 2d 31, ¶ 17 (Miss 2001).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

The posture of this case is important to the standard of review. Spotlite chose to go forward and present evidence of its own, when its motion for directed verdict was denied at the close of Plaintiff's case. By presenting its own evidence at that point, Spotlite waived any right to appeal the denial of the directed verdict motion based on the sufficiency of the evidence at the close of Plaintiff's case. It retained the right to challenge the sufficiency of the total evidence at the close of trial to support the verdict. On review of the trial court's refusal to grant Spotlite's renewed motion for directed verdict, motion for peremptory instruction and motion for j.n.o.v., the entirety of the evidence must now be considered in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff must also be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from any of the evidence. When the evidence is viewed in this light, the jury verdict must stand unless the evidence is so overwhelmingly in favor of Spotlite that reasonable men could not have arrived at the verdict rendered by the jury. James M. Burns Lumber Co. v. Dilworth, 676 So. 2d 892, 892 (Miss. 1996) citing Clements v. Young, 481 So. 2d 263, 268 (Miss. 1985); James W. Sessums Timber Co. v. McDaniel, 635 So. 2d 875, 882 (Miss. 1994).

The deference due the jury's verdict in this stance is summarized in *Rials v. Duckworth*, 822 So. 2d 283, 288-289, ¶¶ 27-28 (Miss. 2002).

Once the jury has returned a verdict in a civil case, the reviewing court is not at liberty to direct that judgment be entered contrary to that verdict short of a conclusion that given the evidence as a whole, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could have found as the jury found. Starcher v. Byrne, 687 So. 2d 737, 739 (Miss. 1997). The weight and credibility of witnesses, primarily experts, is for the jury. BFGoodrich, Inc. v. Taylor, 509 So. 2d 895, 903 (Miss. 1987).

Here, the jury was free to accept or reject any part of [any lay or expert witness's] testimony. Apparently, the jury chose to reject [the testimony relied upon by Spotlite].

II. Spotlite Breached the Duties It Owed to Bianca Barnes

A. The Duty to Supervise

A private person operating a place of public amusement is under an affirmative duty to make it reasonably safe for his patrons. This obligation includes a duty of supervision and control of others on the premises whose actions may cause injury, at least where the defendant has actual or constructive knowledge of the activities involved. *Diker v. St. Louis Park*, 268 Minn. 461, 130 N.W.2d 113 (1964). *Diker* observed a number of jurisdictions have applied this principle to skating rinks. Mississippi and Delaware are among those jurisdictions.

In *Blizzard v. Fitzsimmons*, 193 Miss. 484, 10 So. 2d 343 (1942), the court held a "proprietor engaged in the business of providing public recreation or amusement must exercise a reasonable degree of watchfulness to guard against injuries likely to happen in view of the character of the amusement." *Blizzard* then went on to hold once the skating rink employees are aware a skater is not sufficiently experienced to skate uninjured without aid, the rink has a duty to take the skater from the floor or provide such assistance as is necessary to prevent falls. *Id.*Similarly, in *Derricotte v. United Skates of Am.*, 350 N.J. Super. 227, 794 A.2d 867 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2002), a breach of this duty was found where a skating rink employee who knew the child was inexperienced allowed a child to skate unaided.

Spotlite's guard, Marvin Miller testified he had been told Bianca did not know how to skate. He said she was scared and appeared unsteady and inexperienced, but she wanted to skate by herself, so he left her to skate on her own. In response to a question about why he let her go without staying near her given the situation he described, his reply was "[t]hat's why we have on the back wall of the skating rink skate at your own risk." He reiterated his comment applied to

all skaters no matter how young or how inexperienced. (T. 1071: 25 to 1072:4; 1081:3-25; ARE 192-193, 198) This testimony alone is sufficient to support a finding of breach by Spotlite of the duties recognized in *Blizzard* and *Derricotte*. But it does not stand alone. Plaintiff's recreational facilities expert, Dr. Lucenko testified Spotlite provided inadequate supervision for children at the time Bianca fell as there were no guards in the area and one had to be summoned. (T. 307; ARE 150)

Alternatively, the jury could have believed the testimony of other witnesses present on the floor at the time of Bianca's fall who testified Bianca was on the floor without skates, helping younger skaters to stay up at the time she fell. (T. 206, 219; ARE 5, 9) Dr. Lucenko testified if Bianca was not wearing skates, the skate guard should have been monitoring and should not have permitted her to walk out onto the rink during a skating session without skates. He described the safety reasons why a skate guard should have been there and stopped a child without skates from going onto the floor during a skating session. (T. 307, 314; ARE 50, 57)

Spotlite's owner also confirmed noone without skates should have been allowed to enter the skate floor during a skating session. He acknowledged there was no sign, chain or anything at the entrance to the skate floor indicating no one was allowed on the floor without skates during the skating period. He admitted skate guards and security guards should be monitoring the floor to make sure noone entered without skates during a skating session. (T. 1048-1049; ARE 181-182) This testimony supports an alternative basis on which the evidence could support a conclusion by a reasonable juror that Spotlite breached its duty to properly supervise the children at the rink on Christmas evening, 2000.

Spotlite claims under Holley v. Funtime Skateland South, Inc., 392 So. 2d 1135 (Miss.

1981) and *Blizzard v. Fitzsimmons*, 193 Miss. 484, 491, 10 So.2d 343 (1942), it is relieved of liability because Bianca fell only once and she assumed the risk of falling when she entered the floor to skate. Neither decision requires that the jury verdict in this case be overturned. *Holley* quotes the most important language from *Blizzard*, saying

On the opening question of liability, there is brought into view two well established rules. One is that a person who participates in the diversion afforded by an amusement or recreational device accepts, and assumes the risk of, the dangers that adhere in it so far as they are obvious and necessary. 4 Shearman & Redfield on Negligence, Revised 1941 Ed., § 647, p. 1566. And the other is that the proprietor engaged in the business of providing public recreation or amusement must exercise a reasonable degree of watchfulness to guard against injuries likely to happen in view of the character of the amusement. Meridian Amusement Concession Company v. Roberson, 188 Miss. 136, 193 So. 335.

392 So. 2d at 1137 quoting 193 Miss. at 491.

Both decisions then focus on a particular lack of knowledge by the skating rink operator that relieved the rink of liability. *Blizzard* specifically pointed out that no one at the rink had any knowledge of the boy's inexperience at skating. In *Holley*, the plaintiff had been skating for over 40 years. She knew the skates were not operating properly from the beginning, but she did not tell anyone and continued to skate until they caused her to fall. The court specifically pointed out the absence of any evidence the rink knew or should have known the skates were defective.

In the present case, Marvin Miller testified he was told Bianca did not know how to skate. Based Miller's observations, she was scared, unsteady, and inexperienced confirming what he had been told. That key piece of testimony clearly distinguishes *Holley* and its results. It also clearly moves up the time at which the duty of watchfulness attaches under *Blizzard* so that a series of falls are not necessary for liability.

Even more important, however, is the fact that the law does not stand still. The part of

Blizzard and Holley which Spotlite relies upon is based on the assumption of risk defense. Subsequent to Holley and Blizzard, our law on the assumption of risk defense changed. In Churchill v. Pearl River Basin Dev. Dist., 757 So. 2d 940 (Miss. 1999), the court pointed out the gradual shift in our law and clearly ruled the assumption of risk defense is now subsumed into the doctrine of comparative negligence.

We take this opportunity to hold once again that the assumption of risk doctrine is subsumed into comparative negligence. Any actions which might constitute an assumption of risk should be dealt with only in the context of the comparative negligence doctrine. A jury is always free to decide that an act which constitutes an assumption of risk was the sole proximate cause of a plaintiff's injuries. We see no reason why acts which might constitute an assumption of risk should, as a matter of law, create a complete bar to recovery. The comparative negligence doctrine gives juries great flexibility in reaching a verdict. Any fault on the part of the plaintiff should be considered only in the context of comparative negligence.

757 So.2d at 943-944.

Thus, the assumption of risk parts of *Blizzard* and *Holley* have now been modified and subsumed into comparative negligence. The doctrine of comparative negligence compares the negligence of a defendant to the contributing negligence of the injured plaintiff. In regard to the capacity of children for contributory negligence, *Skelton v. Twin County Rural Electric Ass'n*, 611 So. 2d 931, 937-938 (Miss. 1992) points out contributory negligence subsumes the question of a child's capacity to perceive danger. It is presumed a child of tender years cannot exercise judgment and discretion. The presumption can be rebutted by proving "exceptional capacity" and a capability of exercising judgment and discretion in children between ages of 7 and 14. *Id*.

There was no evidence Bianca Barnes perceived the danger of falling on Spotlite's floor and hitting her head. Nor was there any evidence Bianca had exceptional capacity and capability to exercise judgment. Even more important, Spotlite did not request a comparative negligence

instruction. Thus, Spotlite cannot now avoid liability through an assumption of risk defense.

Furthermore, given the posture of this case, Spotlite cannot rely on Miller's testimony to support its argument Miller did everything he should have done by watching Bianca and immediately coming to her aid after she fell. There was other testimony that there were no Spotlite employees or guards on the skating rink floor when Bianca fell, that guards were only on the floor during the dance period after the skating ended, and that it was Bianca's 13 year old cousin, Courtney Weatherspoon, not Miller, who went over to Bianca and helped her get up, walk to the front of the rink, and sit down at one of the tables before any rink personnel came to Bianca's aid. (T. 220- 221; ARE 10-11)

B. The Duty to Render Aid

As a matter of basic tort law, a business proprietor whose employees are reasonably on notice a customer is in distress and in need of medical attention has a legal duty to come to the assistance of that customer. At the very least, the proprietor and its employees have a legal duty to summon medical assistance within a reasonable time, especially where the employees have no medical training themselves. *Baker v. Fenneman & Brown Props., L.L.C.*, 793 N.E.2d 1203 (Ind. Ct. App. 2003); *Breaux v. Gino's Inc.*, 153 Cal. App. 3d 379, 382, 200 Cal. Rptr. 260 (1984). Courts have consistently required a business proprietor in such circumstances to take reasonable steps to summon medical aid and take other reasonable action to ameliorate the injury. *Lundy v. Adamar of New Jersey*, 34 F.3d 1173 (3d Cir. 1994) citing *Applebaum v. Nemon*, 678 S.W.2d 533, 535-37 (Tex. Ct. App. 1984) (common law duty to administer whatever initial aid he reasonably can and knows how to do, and to take reasonable steps to place the injured person in the hands of a competent physician); *Baca v. Baca*, 81 N.M. 734, 472

P.2d 997, 1001-02 (Ct. App. 1970) (bar turning an injured customer over to the police's custody as a drunk without informing them of his injuries breached its "duty to take reasonable care of him")

The Restatement 2d of Torts, § 314A⁷ states an owner of land who holds it open to the public is under a duty to give those members of the public first aid after the owner knows or has reason to know that they are ill or injured. It also states such a proprietor had a duty to care for injured patrons until they can be cared for by others. The illustrations and comments make it clear if a proprietor does not summon medical aid after he knows a patron is injured and the patron suffers greater injuries that might have been avoided if medical aid had been promptly summoned, the proprietor is liable for those injuries.

Mississippi follows these principles. Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, No. 4057, Inc., 519 So. 2d 413 (Miss. 1988). In Grisham, the court held "[w]e are of the opinion that the V.F.W. officials had an affirmative duty to aid Mabeline once they learned that she had been injured on V.F.W. premises." The court held a defendant breaching that duty would be liable for any aggravation of injuries caused by its failure to render aid even if it were not responsible for the initial injuries. 519 So. 2d at 417

Thomas v. Studio Amusements, Inc., 50 Cal. App. 2d 538, 123 P.2d 552 (Cal. App. 1942) applied this principle to an injured skater at a rink. In Thomas, after the skater fell, she was

⁷Plaintiffs are aware Estate of White v. Rainbow Casino-Vicksburg P'ship, 910 So. 2d 713 (Miss. App. 2005) and Cooper v. Missey, 881 So. 2d 889 (Miss. App. 2004) state Mississippi has not adopted § 314A. However, this is inaccurate. Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, No. 4057, Inc., 519 So. 2d 413 (Miss. 1988) adopts the same legal standard for rending aid as is set forth in § 314A of the Restatement. Apparently Grisham was not brought to the Court of Appeals attention in either White or Cooper as it is not mentioned in either case.

taken by an employee to a first aid room where she was examined. The employee decided she was not injured and did not summon medical assistance. In fact, her hip was broken. The court sustained a jury verdict against the rink, on the theory of breach of the duty to promptly secure medical attention could have led to an aggravation of her injuries.

Like the employee in *Thomas*, Spotlite's guard had reason to believe Bianca was injured. He saw her fall and hit her head. He admitted she was crying, complaining her head hurt, and asking for her mother. Yet he left her sitting on the side without summoning aid. Sometime later when he again observed her in distress, he still failed to summon aid. Hours later, when she rode home lying over with her head down, he still did not summon aid or do anything to inform a responsible adult she had hit her head and might need medical attention. This led to a delay of many hours in obtaining medical attention.

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